THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2012-CP-22-00889
(SC Court of Appeals Case No.: 2014-001104)

Alexander Mangialardo and Audra MangialardoAppellants,

v.

Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC, Gerald W. Kelly, Elizabeth L. Kelly,
South Carolina Bank & Trust, NA, Century 21 - The Beach Company, LLC,
Caison Engineering Company, Inc., Keith Duncan,
Attorneys Title Insurance Fund, Inc., G. Turner Perrow, Jr. and
Tidelands Law, LLC Defendants.

Of Whom Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC, Gerald W. Kelly, Elizabeth L. Kelly,
Caison Engineering Company, Inc., Keith Duncan,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in granting Summary judgment in favor of the Kellys on the grounds the Mangialardos are precluded from recovering damages because they no longer own the Property despite the existence of facts showing the Mangialardos suffered damages and continue to suffer damages as a result of the Kellys' actions?

2. Did the trial court err finding the Kellys are entitled to summary judgment for damage claims related to EMFs when the Mangialardos presented evidence they suffered damages as a result of the high levels of EMFs?

3. Did the trial court err in finding the Unfair Trade Practices Act does not apply when a scintilla of evidence of to satisfy each prong of the UFTPA is present?

4. Did the trial court err in failing to allow the Mangialardos to amend their Complaint even though the opposing parties established no prejudice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the trial court's granting of summary judgment in favor of the Respondents Gerald W. Kelly and Elizabeth L. Kelly (the "**Kellys**") for the claims brought against them by Appellants Alexander and Audra Mangialardo (the "**Mangialardos**"). (**Order Granting Motion of Gerald W. Kelly and Elizabeth L. Kelly for Summary Judgment**).

The Mangialardos initiated the instant action by filing a Summons and Complaint on October 22, 2010, alleging causes of action against multiple defendants who were involved with the construction, financing, and sale of a house and lot located in Pawleys Island (the "**Property**"). (**Complaint filed October 22, 2010**). Prior to serving the Complaint on the named defendants, the Mangialardos filed an Amended Complaint on December 28, 2010, which alleges causes of action against the Kellys for breach of contract, breach of warranties, and violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act. (**Amended Complaint**). The Mangialardos filed two further amended complaints. The Second Amended Complaint, filed on August 5, 2012, added Attorneys' Title Insurance Fund, Inc. as a party and substituted Caisson Engineering Company, Inc. for Al Caisson individually (**Second Amended Complaint**). The Third Amended Complaint, filed on September 11, 2012, added the closing attorney and law firm, G. Turner Perrow, Jr. and Tideland Law, LLC, as parties pursuant to a Consent Order dated August 22, 2012. (**Third Amended Complaint; Consent Order to Add a Party**). The allegations against the Kellys remained the same in the subsequent Complaints.

The Kellys filed their Answer to the Third Amended Complaint on October 16, 2012, denying liability and making claims against their co-defendants. (**Kelly Answer to**

Third Amended Complaint). The Kellys' co-defendants Century 21- The Beach Company, LLC, Attorneys' Title Insurance Fund, Inc., G. Turner Perrow, Jr. and Tidelands Law, LLC also all filed Answers and are current parties to the underlying action.

The Kellys filed their "Motion for Summary Judgment by Gerald W. Kelly and Elizabeth Kelly" on July 16, 2013. **(Kelly Motion for Summary Judgment).** After hearing the matter on August 16, 2013, the court entered an order, dated September 9, 2013, granting summary judgment in favor of the Kellys on the grounds that because the Property has been foreclosed, that the Mangialardos no longer have any damages, have no standing to pursue the case, the case is moot, and the Unfair Trade Practices Act does not apply (hereinafter "**Order Granting Summary Judgment**"). **(Order Granting Motion of Gerald W. Kelly and Elizabeth L. Kelly for Summary Judgment).** The Mangialardos filed their "Motion to Alter, Amend and/or Reconsider the Order Granting Defendants Kellys Motion for Summary Judgment" on September 20, 2013. **(Motion to Alter or Amend).**

On October 10, 2013, prior to the trial court issuing an Order in response to the Mangialardos' Motion to Alter or Amend, the trial court heard arguments relating to the Mangialardos' "Motion to File Fourth Amended Complaint.," filed on September 20, 2013. **(Transcript of Record; Motion to File Fourth Amended Complaint).** The trial court denied the motion by a Form 4 order, dated October 10, 2013 (hereinafter "**Order Denying Amendment**"). **(Form 4).** The Mangialardos' filed a "Motion to Alter and/or Reconsider the Order denying Plaintiff's Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint" on October 31, 2013. **(Motion).** The trial court denied both of the Mangialardos' Motion

to Alter or Amend the Order Granting Summary judgment to the Kellys and the Order Denying Amendment by Form 4 order dated April 30, 2014. **(Form 4)**.

The Mangialardos filed their “Notice of Appeal” on May 23, 2014 and their “Amended Notice of Appeal” on June 13, 2014. **(Notice of Appeal)**. This appeal of both orders follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In September 2007, the Mangialardos entered in to a contract to purchase a house and lot (the “**Property**”) from Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC (the “**Contract**”). (**Agreement to Buy and Sell Real Estate**). Although the Kellys were not named on the face of the Contract, they owned an undivided one-half interest in the Property. (**Gerald W. Kelly Deposition pp.67, ll.20-23; pp. 66, ll.16-19; Deed dated April 18, 2006**). The Kellys had previously entered into a business relationship with Keith Duncan and his company Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC. (**Kelly Deposition pp.32, ll.9-10**). The Kellys would procure financing from a lending institution for the purpose of purchasing real property and constructing “spec houses” thereon with Keith Duncan and Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC supervising construction. (**Gerald W. Kelly Deposition pp.36, ll.13-24; pp.37; pp.38, ll.14-24; pp.42 ll.2-9; pp.45**). When a spec house sold, the Kellys and Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC would divide any profit. (**Gerald W. Kelly Deposition pp.70 ll.21-25**). The Kellys and Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC engaged in constructing no fewer than seven such spec houses during the course of their business arrangement. (**Gerald W. Kelly Deposition pp.50-51**).

The Property at issue in the underlying case is one of the spec houses the Kellys and Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC built. (**Gerald W. Kelly Deposition pp.50-51**). The Mangialardos purchased the Property as a home for themselves and their three young children. (**Deposition of Audra S. Mangialardo pp.36, ll.4; Contract; Warranty Deed dated October 22, 2007**). The Mangialardos procured a loan from South Carolina Bank & Trust in the amount of \$300,000.00 (the “**First Mortgage**”), with G. Turner Perrow and his firm Tideland Law, LLC (collectively “**Perrow**”) acting as the closing agent.

(HUD-1; Deposition of G. Turner Perrow). The Mangialardos paid a purchase price of \$452,900.00 for the Property and contributed \$152,900.00 of their own funds to the purchase at the time of closing. **(BAC Home Loans Serv., LP f/k/a Countywide Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Alexander Mangialardo, Audra Mangialardo and Branch Banking and Trust Company, Ca. No. 2010-CP-22-160).** Attorneys' Title Insurance Fund, Inc. ("Attorneys' Title") underwrote the "Owners' Title Insurance Policy" the Mangialardos purchased from Perrow and Attorneys' Title in connection with the closing. **(Title Insurance Policy).** All of the closing requirements on behalf of Attorneys' Title were conducted and completed by Perrow, as its agent. **(G. Turner Perrow pp.30, ll.20-25; ll.17-24; Lewis Deposition pp. 35, ll. 5-36).**

Although Perrow was aware of an easement in favor of Santee Cooper a/k/a South Carolina Public Service Authority that ran across the Property, he failed to advise the Mangialardos of the benefit or need for an "as-built" survey, which would reveal any encroachments of the structure into the easement. **(G. Turner Perrow Deposition pp.85, ll.21-25; pp. 5, ll.1-4).** Additionally, Perrow included language on the Owners' Title Policy excepting matters that could be discovered with a valid survey without informing the Mangialardos. **(Owners' Title Policy).**

After purchasing and occupying their Property for more than two years, the Mangialardos discovered in April 2010 their house substantially encroached within an easement in favor of Santee Cooper a/k/a South Carolina Public Service Authority. **(Order Granting Summary Judgment; Audra S. Mangialardo Deposition pp.28, ll.5-25).** This encroachment not only greatly diminished the value of the Property, it subjected the Appellants to levels of electric and magnetic field radiation ("EMF") in substantial

excess of the average home from the proximity of the overhead high-tension power lines. **(O.J. Jansky Deposition Exhibits 1 and 2, pp.37, ll.14-16; pp.40 ll.22-24; pp.41, ll.9-12).** In fear of the safety and health of their children with respect to substantially high EMF readings, the Mangialardos vacated the home and moved into a rental. **(Deposition of Audra S. Mangialardo pp.30, ll.20-25; pp.31, ll.1-2).**

Unable to pay both rent and the mortgage payment on the Property and with no option to sell the house as-built within a utility easement, the Mangialardos stopped paying the payment on the Property and it was foreclosed by the lender who waived any deficiency. **(BAC Home Loans Serv., LP f/k/a Countywide Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Alexander Mangialardo, Audra Mangialardo and Branch Banking and Trust Company, Ca. No. 2010-CP-22-160).**

In addition to the first mortgage which was foreclosed as described above, the Mangialardos took out a second mortgage in the principle amount of \$62,000.00 on the Property in 2008 (the "Equity Line"). **(BAC Home Loans Serv., LP f/k/a Countywide Home Loans Servicing, LP v. Alexander Mangialardo, Audra Mangialardo and Branch Banking and Trust Company, Ca. No. 2010-CP-22-160).** Despite the foreclosure of the Property by the first mortgage holder, the Mangialardos are still liable for the Equity Line and continue to make the payments. **(Transcript of Record pp.38, ll. 22-25; pp.39, ll.1-8).**

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the trial court's decision to grant summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same standard applied by the circuit court. Evening Post Publ. Co. v. Berkeley County Sch. Dist., 392 S.C. 76, 81, 708 S.E.2d 745, 748 (2011). A trial court should grant a motion for summary judgment when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC; Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 659, 582 S.E.2d 432, 438 (Ct. App. 2003). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences, which can reasonably be drawn therefrom, must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Faile v. South Carolina Dep't of Juvenile Justice, 350 S.C. 315, 324, 566 S.E.2d 536, 539 (2002). The party seeking summary judgment has the burden of clearly establishing the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 359 S.C. 372, 376, 597 S.E.2d 181, 183 (Ct. App. 2004). Summary judgment is inappropriate when facts are presented on which reasonable minds could differ. Allen v. Long Mfg. NC, Inc., 332 S.C. 422, 428-29, 505 S.E.2d 354, 357-58 (Ct. App. 1998). "In cases applying the preponderance of the evidence burden of proof, the non-moving party is only required to submit a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment." Hancock v. Mid-South Mgt. Co., 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009).

ARGUMENT

1. Did the trial court err in granting Summary judgment in favor of the Kellys on the grounds the Mangialardos are precluded from recovering damages because they no longer own the Property despite the existence of facts showing the Mangialardos suffered damages and continue to suffer damages as a result of the Kellys' actions?

In its Order, the trial court noted that although the building envelope of the house encroached into Santee Cooper's easement by about two and one-half feet, Santee Cooper has not yet demanded the house be moved, and that the Mangialardos no longer own the Property. **(Order Granting Summary Judgment pp.5-6)**. The Mangialardos agree these are the undisputed facts of the case. However, the trial courts assertion that there are no longer any damages flowing to the Mangialardos as a result of those facts is contrary to the evidence presented.

In their Motion for Summary Judgment and at the hearing on the matter, the Kellys argued they had no contract or duties and supplied no warranties to the Mangialardos because they had no direct contact with the Mangialardos and did not execute the Contract. **(Transcript of Hearing)**. The Kellys also argued they were merely acting as a lender in the underlying transaction and were not engaged in any kind of partnership or joint venture with Blue Ridge Ventures. **(Transcript of Hearing)**. Although the trial court made no mention of these finding its Order, the court specifically rejected this argument at the hearing and in its letter to the parties after the hearing. **(Transcript of Hearing; Letter dated August 19, 2013)**. Evidence exists demonstrating the Kellys were in a partnership or joint venture with Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC as

alleged by the Mangialardos. **(Gerald Kelly Deposition pp.44, ll. 23-25; pp.45, ll.2, 16-20; pp.50, ll. 9-12; pp.72, ll.18-23).**

Moreover the Kellys reliance on case law holding lenders making construction loans are not liable for construction defects is untenable. See Roundtree Villas Ass'n v. 4701 Kings Corp., 282 S.C. 415, 422, 321 S.E. 2d 46, 50 (1984)(holding lending institutions are not liable for construction defects). The Kellys were not in the regular business of making loans as contemplated by RoundtreeVillas, and, unlike a lender, they spilt any profits realized from the sale of the Property fifty-fifty. Id.; See also Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber and Mfg. Co., Inc., 299 S.C. 335, 340, 384 S.E.2d 730, 734 (1989)(stating a lender may incur implied warranty liability if he is also a developer). **(Gerald Kelly Deposition pp.44, ll.23-25; pp.45, ll.2,16-20; pp.50, ll.9-12; pp.72, ll.18-23).**

Because there is evidence of a partnership or joint venture between the Kellys and Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC, there is a genuine issue of material fact regarding whether the Kellys are liable to the Mangialardos for the allegations contained in the Third Amended Complaint, including breach of contract and breach of warranties. See Peoples Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Myrtle Beach Golf & Yacht Club, 310 S.C. 132, 147, 425 S.E.2d 764, 774 (Ct. App. 1992)(citing Long v. Carolina Baking Co., 190 S.C. 367, 3 S.E.2d 46 (1939).) (“A joint enterprise exists where there are two or more persons united in the joint prosecution of a common purpose under such circumstances that each has authority, express or implied, to act for all in respect to the control of the means and the agencies employed to execute such common purpose.”).

In South Carolina, damages recoverable for a breach of contract are those which “follow as a natural consequence of the breach, or which may reasonably be supposed to have been within the contemplation of the parties at the time the contract was entered into.” Manios v. Nelson, Mullins, Riley & Scarborough, LLP, 389 S.C. 126, 146, 697 S.E.2d 644, 654 (Ct. App. 2010). “The proper measure of damages for breach of contract is the loss that was actually suffered as a result of the breach.” Id. (citation omitted).

The Mangialardos purchased the Property for \$452,900.00, and contributed more than \$150,000.00 of their own funds to the purchase price. **(Contract; Order pp.3; Transcript of Record pp.23, ll.16-25; pp.38, ll.13-25; pp.39, ll.1-8)**. When they sold the Property to the Mangialardos, the Kellys knew or should have known the house was constructed so that it encroached on Santee Cooper’s easement because they were owners of the Property and their partner, Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC, oversaw construction of the house. **(Gerald Kelly Deposition pp.66, ll.16-17)**.

Although they would not discover the Kellys’ breach for more than two years when Santee Cooper showed up on their Property and informed them of the encroachment, the Mangialardos actually suffered damages at the time they purchased the Property. **(Audra S. Mangialardo Deposition pp.28, ll.6-25)**. The Kellys conveyed the Property to the Mangialardos in a defective condition. They immediately lost the more than \$150,000.00 equity they thought they had in the Property because the encroachment into the easement diminished the value of the Property and rendered the house unsalable. **(G. Turner Perrow Deposition, pp.86, ll.1-25; pp.87, ll.1-4; Audra S. Mangialardo Deposition pp.4, ll.7-10; pp.57, ll.18-22; pp.168, ll.6-11; Alexander Mangialardo Deposition pp.101, ll.13-15)**.

The Mangialardos were further damaged when, believing they had equity in the Property, they received monies from an Equity Line they placed on the Property in 2008. Although the Property was foreclosed and the First Mortgage holder waived any right to pursue a deficiency judgment against the Mangialardos, the Mangialardos lost their equity in the Property before the foreclosure occurred. The foreclosure merely served to reduce the Mangialardos' damages by the amount they are no longer required to repay to the lender. They lost their equity and the money they paid for the house due to the condition of the Property, not because the foreclosure action divested them of ownership. South Carolina Dept. of Highways and Public Transp. v. Manning, 283 S.C. 394, 400, 323 S.E.2d 775, 779 (1984)(stating a landowner is competent to testify as to the value of his or her own property and the damages thereto).¹

Additionally, the Mangialardos are currently obligated to repay the Equity Line, even though they no longer own the Property or have an equitable interest in the Property. **(Transcript of Record pp.38 ll.22-25; pp.39 ll.1-8)**. These facts present at least a scintilla of evidence raising a fact question as to whether the actions of the Kellys or the foreclosure action caused the Mangialardos to lose their equity as suffer damages.

Additionally, these arguments illustrate there is evidence on the record showing the Mangialardos have standing to pursue their case and that the case is not moot.

¹ In making these arguments, the Mangialardos are not suggesting the original lender who contributed \$300,000.00 to the purchase price and whose successor in interest now holds title to the Property did not suffer damages. In fact, both parties suffered damages, the Mangialardos lost the money they put in to the purchase of the Property, and the lender lost at least a portion of the money it loaned the Mangialardos to put toward the purchase price of the Property. The lender's damages are not the merely the result of the foreclosure, but of the Kelly's actions in selling the Property in a defective condition. The defective condition, not the foreclosure action, reduced the Property's value at the time of purchase and continues to reduce its marketability and value today.

Standing requires an interest in the subject matter of the action, and the interest must be a personal stake. Duke Power Co. v. South Carolina Public Service Common, 284 S.C. 81, 96, 326 S.E.2d 395, 404 (1985). “A case is moot where a judgment rendered by the Court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the Court.” South Carolina Retirement System Inv. Com’n v. Loftis, 402 S.C. 382, 384, 741 S.E.2d 757, 758 - 759 (2013)(citations omitted). As discussed herein, there is evidence the Mangialardos have damages as a result of the Kellys’ actions that were not cut off by the foreclosure action, and the court has the ability to grant relief to them in the form of payment of damages.

A question may arise as to whether the Mangialardos could receive a variance from Santee Copper, allowing the house to stay within the easement. The Mangialardos presented evidence in the form of deposition testimony from Jeffery L. Lane suggesting a variance would not be possible under the circumstances. (**Jeffery L. Lane Deposition pp.34, ll.23-25; pp.35, ll.1-23; pp.39, ll.22-25; pp.40, ll.1-5**). A fact question exists as to whether a variance is possible and whether the value of the Property is diminished by its proximity to the power lines and because of the presence of high levels of EMFs.

2. Did the trial court err finding the Kellys are entitled to summary judgment for all claims related to damages related to EMFs when the Mangialardos presented evidence they suffered damages as a result of the high level EMFs?

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