THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Case Number 2012-CP-22-00889
(South Carolina Court of Appeals Case Number 2014-001104)

Alexander Mangialardo and Audra Mangialardo.....Appellants,

v.

Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC, Gerald W. Kelly, Elizabeth L. Kelly,
South Carolina Bank & Trust, NA, Century 21 – The Beach Company, LLC,
Caison Engineering Company, Inc., Keith Duncan,
Attorneys’ Title Insurance Fund, Inc., G. Turner Perrow, Jr. and
Tidelands Law, LLC.....Defendants,

Of Whom Blue Ridge Ventures, LLC, Gerald W. Kelly, Elizabeth L. Kelly,

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

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION TO FILE A FOURTH AMENDED COMPLAINT, BECAUSE ALLOWING SUCH AN AMENDMENT WOULD HAVE PREJUDICED RESPONDENT

Rule 15, SCRPC, provides that a pleading may be amended only by leave of court or written consent of the adverse party after expiration of thirty days from service, and that leave to amend shall be freely given when justice requires and does not prejudice any other party. Foggie v CSX Transportation, Inc., 315 S.C. 17, 431 S.E.2d 587 (S.C. 1993) A motion to amend a pleading is a matter within the discretion of the trial judge. The trial judge's discretion is so broad, his decision to grant or deny the motion will rarely be reversed by an appellate court. Reed v SCNB, 293 S.C. 357, 360 S.E.2d 527 (S.C. App. 1987)

Under Rule 15 (a) and (b), SCRPC, the court has the power to amend pleadings beyond the time allowed for an amendment when to do so does not prejudice another party. Courts have wide latitude in amending pleadings. While this power should not be used indiscriminately or to prejudice or surprise another party, the decision to allow an

amendment is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will rarely be disturbed on appeal. The trial judge's finding will not be overturned without an abuse of discretion or unless manifest injustice has occurred. Berry v McLeod, 328 S.C. 435, 492 S.E.2d 794 (S.C. App. 1997) ("We find the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing to allow the Residents leave to amend their complaint a third time." *Id.*)

A motion to amend is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and the opposing party has the burden of establishing prejudice. Health Promotion Specialists, LLC v Bd. of Dentistry, 403 S.C. 623, 743 S.E.2d 808 (S.C. 2013) It is well established that a motion to amend is addressed to the circuit court's sound discretion, and the party opposing the motion has the burden of establishing prejudice. Prejudice occurs when the amendment states a new claim or defense that would require the opposing party to introduce additional or different evidence to prevail in the amended action. Holland Ex. Rel. Knox v Morbark, Inc., 407 S.C. 227, 754 S.E.2d 714 (S.C. App. 2014)

The prejudice Rule 15 envisions is a lack of notice that a new issue is to be tried and a lack of opportunity to refute it. City of North Myrtle Beach v Lewis-Davis, 360 S.C. 225, 599 S.E.2d 462 (S.C. App. 2004) Amendments to pleadings may properly be denied where there are circumstances such as inexcusable delay, or the taking of the adverse party by surprise, or the like, which might justify a refusal to amend. Dunbar v Carlson, 341 S.C. 261, 533 S.E.2d 913 (S.C.App. 2000) Trial Courts have wide discretion to grant or deny motions to amend, particularly after such a significant delay. Wachovia Bank Nat. Ass'n v Beane, 397 S.C. 612, 725 S.E.2d 715 (S.C.App. 2012)

Allowing Appellants to again amend their complaint, at the "eleventh hour", on the eve of trial, to advance new theories of liability and causes of action based upon

allegations of agency, and to allege a new insurance “bad faith/negligence” cause of action, would prejudice Respondent ATIF. Appellants’ proposed amendment states new claims and theories of liability that would require Respondent ATIF to introduce additional or different evidence to prevail in the amended action, and would create or add issues that have heretofore not been involved in this case. Allowing the amendment would result in inevitable delay and would require additional discovery, significantly increasing litigation costs herein. Because Appellants’ delayed until the eve of trial before seeking to yet again amend their complaint, Respondent ATIF lacked notice that these new issues would be tried, and lacked any opportunity to refute these issues. Further, Appellants were aware of the relationship between Respondent ATIF and Respondents Perrow and Tidelands since well before the filing of their Motion to File Fourth Amended Complaint, and there have been no significant new factual developments that would warrant Appellants’ untimely amendment. All of the foregoing is readily apparent from the record herein.

At the time of the hearing on Appellants’ motion to amend on October 10, 2013, this case was number one (1) for trial on the Georgetown County Jury Trial Roster for the week of November 12, 2013. (Transcript of Hearing, October 10, 2013) In their Motion for Continuance, dated August 21, 2013 (prior to their Motion to File Fourth Amended Complaint on September 20, 2013), Appellants stated that, due to recent discovery responses from Respondents Perrow and Tidelands concerning E & O insurance coverage, additional discovery was needed that should be completed by November 1, 2013. Appellants further requested that the trial of the case be continued until November 1, 2013. (Appellants’ Motion for Continuance dated August 21, 2013) The resulting

Order for Continuance granted the continuance on those grounds, and continued the trial of the case until November 1, 2013. (Order for Continuance, August 28, 2013) Prior to filing their Motion to File Fourth Amended Complaint on September 20, 2013, Appellants were well aware and on notice that the case was subject to being tried on or after November 1, 2013. Appellants did not provide Respondents with a copy of their proposed Fourth Amended Complaint, however, until the hearing on October 10, 2013. (Transcript of Hearing, October 10, 2013; Motion to File Fourth Amended Complaint)

Prior to Appellants' proposed amendments, the only issues involving Respondent ATIF, pursuant to the Second and Third Amended Complaints and Respondent ATIF's defenses thereto, have involved only the terms and interpretation of the Owners' Title Insurance Policy, i.e., whether or not there is coverage under the policy, and, if so, whether Respondent ATIF's refusal to pay the claim would justify an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to Section 38-59-40, Code of Laws of South Carolina. Appellants allege that the damages they have suffered are covered under the policy. (Third Amended Complaint) Respondent ATIF has denied such coverage, based, in part, upon the exceptions in the policy to the Santee Cooper easement itself and exceptions as to matters of survey. (Respondent ATIF's Answer to Third Amended Complaint)

Appellants provided the court and the Respondents herein with copies of their proposed Fourth Amended Complaint for the first time at the hearing on Appellants' motion to amend, held on October 10, 2013. (Transcript of Hearing, October 10, 2013; Proposed Fourth Amended Complaint) In addition to the previously pled causes of action against Respondent ATIF for breach of contract (Owner's Title Insurance Policy) and Statutory Attorney's Fees and Costs (Section 38-59-40, Code of Laws of South Carolina),

Appellant' proposed Fourth Amended Complaint included a new cause of action against Respondent ATIF for "Bad Faith/Negligence." The "Bad Faith/Negligence" cause of action purports to allege tort liability against Respondent ATIF for the handling of Appellants' claim, and also for matters concerning the closing of the real estate purchase and the issuance of the Owner's Policy, based upon an agency theory of liability.

(Proposed Fourth Amended Complaint)

Appellants also include Respondent ATIF in their negligence cause of action against Respondents Perrow and Tidelands in their proposed Fourth Amended Complaint. Further, inserted immediately after their causes of action against Respondents Perrow and Tidelands for breach of contract and negligence, Appellants purport to set forth a cause of action titled simply "Agency." In this cause of action, Appellants allege that Respondents Perrow and Tidelands were acting as agents of Respondent ATIF in the closing of the Appellant's purchase of the property, and again attempt to allege this as a basis for liability. (Proposed Fourth Amended Complaint)

Appellants also attempted, in their proposed Fourth Amended Complaint, to re-allege causes of action against the Kelly Respondents, and to include, for the first time, the Kelly Respondents in Appellants' First Cause of action for negligent construction, despite the fact that an Order granting the Kelly Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment had previously been filed on September 12, 2013. (Proposed Fourth Amended Complaint)

If Appellants' proposed amendments are allowed, Respondent ATIF would be forced to defend against new theories of liability, and new issues would be interjected herein such as agency liability, scope of agency, apparent authority, negligence, tort

liability for bad faith in handling the claim pursuant to Nichols v State Farm Mutual Auto Ins. Co., 279, S.C. 336, 306 S.E.2d 616 (S.C. 1983), insurer's duty, or lack of duty, to advise insured, standard of care, etc.,² that heretofore have not been involved.

Respondent ATIF's actions in investigating, evaluating and denying the claim would become an additional issue. Additional discovery on these issues would be required, and depositions of various parties would have to be retaken, all at a significant cost to Respondent ATIF. Respondent ATIF would be required to retain and identify expert witnesses as to certain title insurance and standard of care issues, and possibly other issues. Respondent ATIF would also need to depose Appellants' legal standard of care expert, C. Joseph Roof, Esquire, (Third Amended Complaint) and incur the expense associated with that expert witness deposition. (Prior to Appellants' proposed amendment, Mr. Roof was only involved with the causes of action concerning Respondents Perrow and Tidelands) This would be unduly prejudicial to Respondent ATIF at this stage of the case, on the eve of trial, after so much time has elapsed already. See Health Promotion Specialists, LLC v Bd. of Dentistry, *supra*, and Holland Ex. Rel. Knox v Morbark, Inc., *supra*.

Appellants claim that they sought to amend to add new allegations concerning Respondent ATIF based upon Matthew Lewis' deposition testimony taken on August 1, 2013. (Transcript of Hearing, October 10, 2013) Actually, Appellants were aware of the facts and evidence giving rise to these new allegations well before the deposition of Mr. Lewis on August 1, 2013, and even before they filed their initial Complaint herein.

² Respondent ATIF does not intend for the foregoing to represent a complete or exhaustive list of the additional issues that would be injected into this case by Appellants' proposed amendment. The list is intended to be illustrative of the myriad of issues and complexities that would be added by the amendment.

As set forth in Respondent ATIF's Statement of Facts herein, Respondents signed the Title Insurance Financial Interest Form at the closing on October 22, 2007. (Title Insurance Financial Interest Disclosure Form; Exhibit E to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint). This form sets out the agency relationship involving Respondent ATIF and Seaport Title Services, LLC. The Owner's Title Insurance Policy itself (Owner's Title Insurance Policy; Exhibit C to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint), mailed to Appellants on November 30, 2007, (Letter of Respondent Perrow; Exhibit D to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint). clearly references the agency relationship involving Respondent Perrow, Respondent ATIF and Seaport Title Services, LLC. Appellants' attorneys' letter of April 21, 2010, to Respondent ATIF also references the relationship between the Owner's Title Insurance Policy, Respondent ATIF and Seaport Title Services, LLC. (Letter of April 21, 2010, Roger P. Giardino, Esquire; Exhibit F to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint). Appellant Alexander Mangialardo's notes of a telephone conversation that purportedly took place on September 1, 2010, references that Matthew Lewis, with Respondent ATIF, told Mr. Mangialardo that Respondent Perrow was an agent for Respondent ATIF. (Handwritten Notes, Appellants' Supplement to Discovery Responses; Exhibit H to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to

Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint).

The deposition of Appellant Alexander Mangialardo was taken on August 31, 2011. Mr. Mangialardo was obviously aware at that time of the agency relationship between Respondent ATIF and Respondent Perrow, as shown by the following exchange:

Q. So sitting here today in this deposition, you can't tell me what loss you've suffered that is covered by this policy; is that correct?

A. That's correct. And you can't show me a policy that your company wrote.

Q. What's Exhibit D-7 right there?

A. That's our part. You didn't even bring what they did, and you should have the HUD settlement from your guy that works for you. He's the one who did it all.

(Deposition of Alexander Mangialardo, page 205, line 19, through page 206, line 3; Exhibit J to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint).

On October 28, 2011, Respondent ATIF served its Answers to (former) Co-Defendants South Carolina Bank & Trust, NA's, Interrogatories on all parties herein, including Appellants.³ In its identification of potential witnesses, Respondent ATIF included the following information:

- c. Matthew A. Lewis, Esquire
Assistant Vice President
South Carolina State Counsel
Attorneys' Title Insurance Fund, Inc.
810 Dutch Square Boulevard, Suite 117
Columbia, S.C. 29210

No written or recorded statement at this time.

³ Appellants did not serve Respondent ATIF with initial discovery requests until January 18, 2013.

This individual has knowledge of his investigation of Plaintiffs' claim for title insurance coverage herein, his telephone conversation(s) with Alexander Mangialardo concerning same, and the Owner's Title Insurance Policy issued to Plaintiffs herein.

- d. G. Turner Perrow, Jr., Esquire
Seaport Title Services, LLC
Tidelands Law, LLC
606 Front St.
Georgetown, S.C. 29440

No written or recorded statement at this time.

This individual is expected to have knowledge of the closing of Plaintiffs' purchase of the real property that is the subject of this action and the issuance of the Owners' Title Insurance Policy to Plaintiffs.

(Answers to Interrogatories; Exhibit G to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint).

In the Affidavit and Opinion of C. Joseph Roof, dated March 5, 2012, and attached to Appellant' Third Amended Complaint (Third Amended Complaint), Mr. Roof opines that Respondent Perrow failed... "to recognize and explain to Plaintiffs Perrow's duties in the transaction to Attorneys' Title Insurance Fund, Inc., and Seaport Title Services, LLC, and the possible conflict of interest that exists when a closing attorney is serving as an underwriting agent for a title insurance company (insurer) and also serving as attorney for the buyer (insured)." (Affidavit and Opinion of C. Joseph Roof; Exhibit I to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint).

Appellants took Respondent Perrow's deposition on March 11, 2013. The title insurance agency issue was fully explored and examined in that deposition. (Deposition of G. Turner Perrow, Jr., Esquire; page 20, line 25, through page 21, line 15; page 28, line 16, through page 29, line 6; page 30, line 10, through page 31, line 3; page 102, line 2 through line 25; Exhibit K to Respondent ATIF's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter, Amend or Reconsider the Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to File a Fourth Amended Complaint).

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